FILED
SEP 29 2018
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

Case No. 93455. 2

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Roland Killian & Dennis Bailey, Appellants

v.

International Union of Local Operating Engineers, Local 609-A, Defendant.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

DIVISION ONE, WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS CASE NO. 74024-5-I

> Chellie M. Hammack Attorney for Appellant WSBA #31796 801 2<sup>nd</sup> Avenue, Suite 1410 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1909



##

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

The petitioners are Roland Killian and Dennis Bailey.

#### COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey seek review of the Court of Appeals' published opinion, Killian et. al. v. International Union of Operating Engineers Local 690-A, et. al., no. 74024-5-1 (August 22, 2016) (Appendix (App.) A), which affirmed the King County Superior Court's order granting Local 690-A's motion for summary judgment. (App. B).

#### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether a union who engages in the unauthorized practice of law by conduct admittedly outside of the scope of their authority under any CBA be allowed the advantage of a restricted six month statute of limitations when a three year statute of limitations is applied to all other persons and/or entities.
- 2. Whether a Consumer Protection Act claim based upon unlawful conduct associated with the unauthorized practice of law by a union relating to conduct engaged in outside of the scope of the CBA is subject to the same four year statute of limitations as set out in RCW 19.86.120 that applies to all other persons and/or entities.
  - 3. Whether RCW 4.16.130 applies and establishes a two year

statute of limitations to Washington state claims for Breach of Duty of Fair Representation brought against a labor union.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Local 609-A acts outside of the scope of its' authority under the CBA and negotiates a specific amount for resolution of Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's non-union civil claims.

In its' decision, the Court of Appeal left out crucial facts as follows:

Mr. McBee, the union representative for Local 609-A during a mediation that was to address the union claim only, worked to settle Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's non-union civil claims. *See* CP 164, 166-170 & 194; *See also* CP 386-387 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 199:13-201:10). Mr. McBee did this knowing that both were represented by counsel. *Id.* Mr. McBee did this knowing that the CBA did not provide him with authority to settle those claims. *See* CP 370 (Dep. McBee, pg. 136:9-23); CP 372 (Dep McBee, pgs. 143:9-10, *see also* 142:6-143:11) & CP 386 (Dep. McBee, pg. 200:1-22). Mr. McBee negotiated a specific amount with Seattle Public Schools (SPS) for resolutions of those claims including an amount for attorney fees. CP 386 (Dep. McBee, pg. 200:1-22). The negotiated settlement agreement included the following provision,

2. Consideration. In exchange for Killian withdrawing his grievance and fully releasing all known and unknown claims against the District, and the other promises contained in this Agreement, the District agrees to the following:

- 2.1 Gross Settlement Amount. The District will pay Killian the gross sum ofone hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) ("Total Settlement Amount") in full settlement of his grievance and all known and unknown claims by or before October 18, 2013.
- 2.2 Settlement Characterization. Forty-nine thousand five hundred dollars (\$49,500) of this Total Settlement Amount will be considered a settlement of disputed) wage claims ("Back Wages Settlement Amount"). Fifty thousand five hundred dollars (\$50,500) of this Total Settlement Amount will be considered a settlement of (disputed) non-wage claims for general/compensatory damages, including emotional distress, etc., and for Killian's costs ("General Damages Settlement Amount").

CP 164 & 171-175 & CP 381-383 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 180:6-185:2). During his deposition Mr. McBee acknowledged that the amount of \$50,000 listed above was for non-union civil claims and the cost to be covered were attorney fees. CP 386 (Dep. McBee, pg. 200:1-22); *See also* CP 370 (Dep. McBee, pg. 136:9-23). This is not the typical case wherein an employer requests a union obtain a vague general waiver from a grievant. Mr. McBee worked to reach a settlement of claims outside of the CBA, including an amount for counsel's attorney fees, then presented that to Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey advising them that the amount was a fair settlement of their claims. *Id.*, & CP 164 & CP 194-195.

#### B. A brief summary of what led to the grievance.

In or about May 1999, Petitioner Roland Killian began his

employment with Seattle Public Schools ("SPS"). CP 209 (Dep. Killian, pg. 14:2-3). Petitioner Dennis Bailey began employment with SPS in May, 2006. CP 280 (Dep. Bailey, pgs. 14:24-15:1; 16:2-10). Mr. Killian was employed at SPS for approximately 13 1/2 years working his way up from an apprentice to a gardener to a grounds foreman. *Id.* (pg. 42:18-24). Prior to September 2011, Mr. Killian had never received any disciplinary action during his employment with SPS. CP 161. There were several gardeners under his lead including Petitioner Dennis Bailey and Susan Wicker. *Id.* (pg. 47:25-48:6).

What happened to Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey that led to their termination is not directly relevant to this appeal. In summary, Mr. Bailey lodged a complaint of sexual harassment against a co-worker, Susan Wicker. Ms. Wicker in turn lodged several complaints that were unfounded and ultimately a complaint against Mr. Bailey and Mr. Killian that resulted in both men being placed on administrative leave for over a year and then terminated. CP 292 -294 (pgs. 59:5-10; 60:4-19; 64:15-65:12); CP 291 (pgs. 55:18-58:19); CP 192-193 & 201; CP 232 (pg. 108:11-24); CP 222 (Dep. Killian, pgs. 65:7-66:9); CP 287(Dep. Bailey pgs. 39:17-40:3); CP 211 (Dep. Killian, pg. 23:1-5); CP 296 (Dep. Bailey, pg. 73:9-12). The allegations raised by Ms. Wicker were false. CP 226 (Dep. Killian, pg. 84:15-21) & CP

287 (Dep. Bailey, pgs. 39:17-40:3); See also CP 162 & CP 192-193.

### C. The grievance process & mediation.

1. Local 609-A concludes the investigation was faulty and agrees to pursue a grievance on behalf of Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey.

Local 609-A is the collective bargaining unit for classified employees of SPS including grounds employees. CP 216 (Dep. Killian, pgs. 42:20-43:2). Both Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey were members of Local 609-A and sought advice from the union when they were notified of the investigation. CP 222 (Dep. Killian, pgs. 66:17-67:11); CP 290 (Dep. Bailey, pg. 51:11-21). Local 609-A assigned union representative Michael McBee to assist Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey in the process. CP 357 (Dep. McBee, pg. 84:7-13).

When Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey received notice of their termination in December 2012, both notified Local 609-A and requested that a grievance be pursued. CP 222 (Dep. Killian, pgs. 66:17-67:11) & CP 296 (Dep. Bailey, pg. 74:5-7). They were told by Mr. McBee that he would represent them through the grievance process. CP364 (Dep. McBee, pgs.111:22 -112:22). Unfortunately Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey were confused with the process as they rarely met with Mr. McBee to discuss their cases. CP 162-163; CP 193. Both Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey met with Mr. McBee only during times they were to be at SPS for hearings. *Id.* While they were generally aware of what the grievance process entailed, they were frequently lost as to what was

occurring and what the outcome of each step was. *Id.* Both Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey voiced their frustrations to Mr. McBee. *Id.* Believing they had been wronged and may have other civil claims, in March 2013 Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey sought the help of outside counsel and retained an attorney to pursue their non-union civil claims. CP 163 & CP 193-194. Finally, they were eventually told by Mr. McBee that the initial steps were concluded and that the next step would be to proceed to arbitration. *Id., See also* CP 370 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 133:16-134:5). Mr. McBee also explained that Local 609 -A would be requesting the parties agree to first submit the grievances to mediation with a Public Employees Relations Commission ("PERC") mediator. *Id.* 

2. Local 609 -A works to settle all Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's claims, all claims including non-union civil claims that are outside of the scope of the CBA, without Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's knowledge or consent.

Both Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey were initially confused by Mr. McBee's recommendation that they participate in a PERCs mediation. CP 163 & CP P193-194. Because they had concerns, they had signed a fee agreement with their private counsel indicating they would not attempt to settle their claims without counsel's involvement, they did not want to participate in a mediation that would include resolutions of all their claims

without the involvement of counsel. *Id.*, CP 238-239 (Dep. Killian, pgs. 132:20-133:1),CP 306 (Dep. Bailey, pg. 114:2-9), CP 372 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 142:6-143:11). After Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey raised these concerns, they were told by Mr. McBee and the attorney representing Local 609 -A, that the mediation was intended to address only the union claims. CP 372 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 142:6-143:11) & CP 431-433.

There were two mediation sessions held between SPS, Local 609 -A, with Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey participating, and a PERCs mediator. CP 372 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 149:23-150:22). The first session occurred in August 2013. *Id.* During that session the parties discussed the matter but no agreement was reached. *Id.* Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey did have concerns as it appeared to them that there were attempts by SPS to include a discussion of resolution of all of their claims, including their non-union civil claims. CP 163 & 194. When this came up, Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey again reminded Mr. McBee and SPS that it had retained private counsel and they could not resolve those claims as they would be responsible for attorney fees and it would result in a breach of their contract. *Id., See also* CP 370-371 & 387-388 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 137:24 - 139:5 & 200:6-201:10. However, the discussion did not progress very far and the mediation was rescheduled to September 9, 2013. CP 374 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 149:23-150:22).

During the September 9<sup>th</sup> mediation, SPS made an offer to settle and provided a copy of a proposed settlement agreement. CP 164 & 166-170; *See also* CP 386-387 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 199:13-201:10). The settlement agreement was not complete, in that the figures were not filled in, however, it contained the following provision:

- 2. Consideration. In exchange for Killian withdrawing his grievance and fully releasing all known and unknown claims against the District, and the other promises contained in this Agreement, the District agrees to the following:
  - 2.1 Gross Settlement Amount. The District will pay Killian the gross sum of \_\_\_\_\_(\$\_\_\_\_)("Total Settlement Amount") in full settlement of his grievance and all known and unknown claims by or before April 19, 2013.
  - 2.2 Settlement Characterization. ) of this (\$ Total Settlement Amount will be considered a settlement of 9disputed) wage claims ("Back Wages Settlement Amount"). ) of this Total (\$) Settlement Amount will be considered a settlement of (disputed non-wage claims for general/compensatory damages, including emotional distress, etc., and for Killian's costs ("General Damages Settlemetn Amount").

CP 164 & 166-170.; See also CP 375 (Dep McBee, pgs. 153:7-155:1). When Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey received this during the mediation they were again concerned. CP 164 & 194. When the discussions began regarding the

settlement of all claims, Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey again reminded Mr. McBee and the others involved that they had a private attorney and could not resolve the non-union claims without her involvement as it would be contrary to the contract they signed and they would be required to pay attorney fees. Id.; See also CP 370-371, 377 & 386-387 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 136:9-136:23; 137:24-139:5; 161:10-162:13 & 200:6-201:10). Mr. McBee responded indicating that their counsel could not participate in the PERCs mediation. *Id.* However, in looking at the proposed settlement, it included a provision for general damages and payment of costs. *Id.* Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey were confused, not sure of what this meant but knew the only costs they had incurred at the time and discussed were private counsel's attorney fees. CP 164 & 194. Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey were told that the provision was intended to cover their attorney fees. *Id.* Regardless, because they could not reach a settlement amount that was acceptable to anyone, the mediation ended. CP 164 & 194; CP 375 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 153:7-156:22). Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey were told by Mr. McBee that Local 609 -A would continue to represent them and they would be moving to arbitration. *Id.,See* also CP 377-378 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 164:11-165:2).

D. After mediation in September 2015, Local 609 -A votes to pursue arbitration on behalf of Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey.

Local 609 -A held regular meetings for its members monthly. CP 340 (Dep McBee, pgs. 15:24-16:16). After the mediation on September 9, 2013, the Local 609 -A Board met and voted to pursue arbitration on behalf of the Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey. CP 361-362 (Dep. Of McBee, pgs. 100:3-101:22). Both Plaintiff Killian and Plaintiff Bailey were told that the Board had voted and their arbitrations would be pursued. CP 164 & 194.

E. After the vote to pursue arbitration, without Mr. Killian's or Mr. Bailey's knowledge or consent, Local 609 -A negotiates a settlement with SPS, including a settlement of Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's non-union civil claims.

Unknown to Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey, Mr. McBee continued negotiations with SPS after the Board had voted to pursue the arbitration. CP 164, CP 194-195 & CP 240 (Dep. Killian, pg. 137:14-21); *See also* CP 382-384 (Dep McBee, pgs. 181:3-191:7). This includes the facts set out above, those facts not included in the Court of Appeals decision. From what Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey have been able to ascertain, SPS extended an offer to Local 609 -A, through Mr. McBee that included the provision outlined above, that is with figures inserted for general damages and costs intended to compensate them for their non-union civil claims and attorney fees. *See* CP 164 & 171-175 & CP 381-383 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 180:6-185:2). On September 17, 2013, Mr. McBee called the Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey and

told them the offer had been extended, that it was a "good" offer and that they should accept it. CP 164 & CP 194-195.

According to records received from Local 609 -A, Mr. McBee notified the Board by email and an email vote regarding acceptance of the offer began on September 17, 2013. CP 387 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 204:12-22 CP 424-430. Records produced by Local 609 -A show that a settlement agreement was signed by Local 609 -A on, Friday, September 20, 2013. CP 424-430 (Dep. McBee, Exhibit 12), *See also* CP 385-386 (Dep. McBee, pgs. 195:10-196:19; 198:15-21). The settlement agreement was altered in that the provisions outlined above dividing the payments into categories was omitted and a lump settlement sum was included in its place. *Id*.

# F. Procedural Background - Court of Appeals affirms trial court orders.

Originally, this case was filed as two separate cases on May 29, 2014.

CP 1-12 & 974-985. The complaints raise claims against Defendant

International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 609-A ("Local 609 -A") for

Breach of Contract, Breach of Duty of Fair Representation and Negligent

Unauthorized Practice of Law. CP 1-12 & 974-985.

The cases were consolidated by Court order on January, 23, 2015. CP 27-28. The initial complaints included claims against Seattle Public Schools

("SPS"). CP 1-12 & 974-985. SPS was later dismissed as a defendant. CP 29-31.

On August 3, 2015, the trial court entered orders granting Local 609 - A's Motion for Summary Judgment based upon statute of limitations. CP 966-968. The same day the trial court entered an order denying Petitioners' Motion to Amend the Complaint to include a claim for violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act. CP 971-973. As set out in Petitioners' initial Motion to Amend, "[t]he allegations supporting the unauthorized practice of law claims raised also support a CPA claim by the Plaintiffs." CPA 826. In denying Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's motion the trial court explained, "[a]ny CPA claim would in substance be a Duty of Fair Representation claim, and barred by the applicable statute of limitations." CP 972. Petitioners filed a Notice of Appeal of both of these orders on September 2, 2015.

On August 22, 2016, Washington Court of Appeals Division One affirmed the trial court's orders adopting a statute of limitations of 6 months to claims brought against a union for engaging in the unauthorized practice of law and for the associated consumer protection act violations. App. A.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Allowing a very restrictive statute of limitations to be applied to a union for engaging in the unauthorized practice of law outside of the scope of its authority under a CBA, than is applied to any other person or entity is contrary to Washington law and public policy. RAP 13(b)(1)(2) & (4).

# A. Under Washington Law the applicable statute of limitations on claims for the unauthorized practice of law is 3 years.

The negligent and unauthorized practice of law carries a statute of limitation of three years. RCW 4.16.080(2). Local 609-A has never raised an argument that Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey do not have a claim for the unauthorized practice of law but only argue that this Court should apply a six month statute of limitations to the claims. RCW 41.56.160(1).

In Morales v. Westinghouse Hanford Co., 73 Wn. App. 367, 371 (1994), the Court held civil claims for discrimination, that is non-union civil claims, are outside the scope of a CBA. The issue in that case was whether the statute of limitations on a discrimination claim was tolled during the grievance process invoked by the CBA. Id. The Court held it was not, as it was an action independent of the plaintiff's rights under the CBA. Id. The Court noted that International Union of Electrical, Radio & Mach. Workers v. Robbins & Myers, Inc., 429 U.S. 229, 236 (1976) ". . . held that the independent origins of the contractual rights under a CBA and the statutory rights under Title VII foreclose any argument for tolling of the statute. Id., at 372. Further, the Washington Supreme Court has explained, "[i]t is our duty to protect the public from the activity of those who, because of lack of

professional skills, may cause injury whether they are members of the bar or persons never qualified for or admitted to the bar. *Wash. State Bar Assn. v. Great W. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn.*, 91 Wn.2d 48, 61 (1978) (citation omitted).

In this case Mr. McBee acknowledged that he had no authority represent Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey in their non-union civil claims. There is no issue here that his actions in negotiating a specific amount for settlement of Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey' non-union civil claims, including costs or attorney fees, was outside of the scope of the CBA. Defendant has argued that *Peterson v. Kennedy*, 771 F.2d 1244 (9th Cir. 1985) applies. This argument is in error. Plaintiff's claims for the unauthorized practice of law do not arise out of Mr. McBee's actions in pursuing the grievances. To clarify the point, if Mr. McBee had walked into the mediation and shot one of the Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey, there would be no issue that his actions had nothing to do with the grievances pursued under the CBA. While the example may be a bit extreme, it is equally applicable in this case. Mr. McBee did something he had no authority to do under the CBA, he negotiated a specific amount for resolution of Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey' non-union civil claims. He presented that amount, along with the amount negotiated to resolve the grievance, to Local 609 - A Board for approval. The

Board approved it, both the sums for resolution of the grievance, or back pay and the sums for resolution of Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey' non-union civil claims. Local 609 -A had no authority to settle Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey' non-union civil claims. There is no issue regarding this fact.

Further, there are strong policy arguments against adopting such a short limitation period. There is no reason why Local 609 -A should be provided a shorter statute than any other party violating this law. The Washington Supreme Court is taxed with the responsibility of assuring that the public is protected and to limit the statute of limitations would impact their ability to do so. Mr. Killian and Mr. Bailey' claims for the unauthorized practice of law carry a three year statute and there is no reason for the Court to adopt a different statutory period.

B. Even under the federal law Mr. McBee's conduct in resolving Mr. Killian's and Mr. Bailey's non-union civil claims was outside of the scope of the CBA and a 6 month statute of limitations should not apply.

Case law cited relied upon by Local 609-A and referenced in the published opinion of the Court of Appeals arguing that the duty of fair representation (DFR) consumes all claims for legal malpractice is not applicable to this case. Local 609-A cites to a number of cases that have held a legal malpractice claim brought against a union attorney for representation

of a union member in a grievance was in fact a DFR claim. See Weiner v. Beatty, 121 Nev. 243, 249-50 (2005); Brown v. Maine State Employees Ass'n, 690 A.2d 956, 960 (1997); Peterson v. Kennedy, 771 F.2d 1244, 1255 (9th Cir. 1985), cert. denied 475 U.S. 112 (1986) (holding an attorney hired by a union was immune from suit pursuant to the Atkinson Rule barring individual claims against union officials for acts undertaken on behalf of the union). All of these cases involved suits against licensed practicing attorneys who were hired by a union to represent a member. Id. None of these cases involved a lay person engaging in the unauthorized practice of law. Local 609 -A's argument would allow any union representative to engage in legal malpractice and be provided the shield of the application of a 6 month statute of limitations. No other individual or institution is afforded this type of benefit and the law in the state of Washington provides for a three year statute of limitations on claims for the unauthorized practice of law. RCW 4.16.080(2). The unauthorized practice of law is a crime. RCW 2.48.180(3). It is not simply a negligence claim. Defendant Union's conduct was a violation of the law and, as admitted by Mr. McBee, outside of the scope of the CBA.

Further *Peterson v. Kennedy*, 771 F.2d 1244 (1985) is not applicable in this case. Peterson involved the application of the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA). *Id.* at 1251. Finding the claim predated the application of the six

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