# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Oct 21, 2016, 2:06 pm

03655.2

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 74024-5-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### ROLAND KILLIAN and DENNIS BAILEY,

#### Petitioners

v.

# INTERNATIONAL UNION OF OPERATING ENGINEERS, LOCAL 609,

Defendant-Respondent

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kathleen Phair Barnard
WSBA No. 17896
Danielle Franco Malone
WSBA No. 40979
Schwerin Campbell Barnard
Iglitzin & Lavitt LLP
18 West Mercer Street, Ste. 400
Seattle, WA 98119
206-257-6002 (phone)
206-257-6037 (fax)
barnard@workerlaw.com
franco@workerlaw.com

R. Scott Fallon
WSBA No. 2574
Angela Y. Hunt
WSBA No. 39303
Fallon, McKinley, &

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

### A. The Court of Appeals Decision Comports With Washington Precedent.

Review may be warranted where a Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a decision of Washington Courts, RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2), but there is no such conflict here. RAP 13.4(b)(1)&(2). Petitioners contend that the decision below is in conflict with *Morales v. Westinghouse Hanford Co.*, 73 Wn. App. 367, 371 (Div. III, 1994). However, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *Morales*, which held that statutory discrimination claims are independent of any rights inherent in a collective bargaining agreement. Nor has Local 609 argued against this black letter rule. Rather, the undisputed fact is that Local 609 did not enter into any settlement of the Petitioners' separate individual claims.

Petitioners argue a conflict with *Morales* because the District's proposals to settle the grievances were contingent on Petitioners also agreeing to settle their individual claims. However, the Union respected the separate nature of the individual claims and did not act on the Petitioners' behalf regarding those claims. It simply decided to settle its contractual grievances when the offers to settle the grievances reached a high dollar value and left to the Petitioners whether to act on the second

contingency necessary to collect the settlement offers, whether to release their individual claims, or whether to persue those claims in court.

To the extent that Petitioners contend that Local 609 engaged in the unauthorized practice of law by receiving offers from the District through the offices of a PERC mediator who was mediating the resolution of the Union's grievances under the CBA, where those monetary offers were also contingent on the Petitioners' release of individual claims, that is an allegation of a breach of the duty of fair representation, not the unauthorized practice of law. As the Court of Appeals noted, the act of receipt of those offers, and any comment made by McBee about the offers, were made in "the collective bargaining mediation process between the appellants and SPS" and therefore, any unauthorized practice of law claim arising in the course of the grievance procedure is subsumed in a DFR claim against the Union. Killian v. Int'l Union of Operating Engineers Local 609-A, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*5 (Wn.App.). Additionally, "because the Petitioners' CPA claim is based on the [] unauthorized practice of law claim, [the Court of Appeals] conclude[d] that their CPA claims are also subsumed in the DFR claim...". Id.

Because the alleged negligence—the unauthorized practice of law—arose "in the course of the grievance process under the CBA," the Court of Appeals correctly held that "the union member may sue the union

[only] for breach of the duty of fair representation." *Killian*, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*4-5 (citing *Peterson v. Kennedy*, 771 F.2d 1244, 1259 (9th Cir. 1985) *cert. denied* 475 U.S. 1122 (1986)).<sup>4</sup>

In *Peterson*, the Ninth Circuit held that legal malpractice claims against union attorneys were subsumed as DFR claims against the union, because the attorney was performing a function in the collective bargaining process that would otherwise be assumed by the union's business agents or representatives. *Peterson*, 771 F.2d at 1255, 1258 ("[Plaintiff's] malpractice claim against the union's attorney was subsumed in and precluded by the breach of the duty [of fair representation] claim").

# B. The Court of Appeals Decision Comports With Washington Public Policy.

Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals erred in restricting union liability in processing grievances to the duty of fair representation, and that review is therefore appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4). They argue the decision below is contrary to Washington State public policy because "there is no reason" for applying the shorter limitation period

13

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court of Appeals observed that "this court may look to the interpretation of federal labor law where the law is similar to state law. ...Here, the parties rely predominantly on federal case law. *Killian*, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*4 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 22, 2016) (citing *Navlet v. Port of Seattle*, 164 Wn.2d 818, 828-29, 194 P.3d 221 (2008)); *Allen v. Seattle Police Officers' Guild*, 100 Wn.2d 361, 372, 670 P.2d 246 (1983).

applicable to DFR claims to their negligence claims against their union.

Petition at 15. However, the Court of Appeals clearly enunciated the sound reasons for doing so:

Courts should accord substantial deference to a union's decisions regarding grievance processing, because a union must balance collective and individual interests in making these decisions. Id. The collective bargaining system by its very nature subordinates the interest of an individual employee to the collective interests of all the employees in the bargaining unit. ... The DFR is breached when a union's conduct is discriminatory, arbitrary, or in bad faith.

Killian, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*3 (citing Lindsey v. Mun. of Metro. Seattle, 49 Wash.App. 145, 148, 741 P.2d 575 (1987)).

The decision below perfectly comports with the public policy of this State. In *Allen v. Seattle Police Officers' Guild*, 100 Wn.2d 361, 372, 670 P.2d 246 (1983), the Court noted that RCW 41.56.080, which provides that a union representing public employees in Washington is the exclusive representative of the bargaining unit employees that selected it, "parallels that contained in section 9 of the NLRA" and held that a cause of action for breach of the duty of fair representation was also implied in RCW 41.56.080 (citing *Vaca v. Sipes*, 386 U.S. 171, 177, 87 S.Ct. 903, 909, 17 L.Ed.2d 842 (1967)). <sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The duty of fair representation was recognized under the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"), 29 U.S.C. § 151-169, "as a judicial response to the broad power granted to unions as the exclusive representatives of their members" under Section 9 of that Act. *Allen*, 100 Wn.2d at, 367, 670 P.2d at 249.

As the Court of Appeals pointed out, Washington courts "accord substantial deference' to a union's decisions regarding grievance processing, because a union must balance many collective and individual interests in making these decisions. ... The collective bargaining system by its very nature subordinates the interests of an individual employee to the collective interests of all the employees in the bargaining unit." *Killian*, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*3. *See also*, *Allen*, 100 Wn.2d at 368, 670 P.2d 246; *Lindsey*, 49 Wn. App. at 149, 741 P.2d at 577-78 (1987) (citing *Peterson v. Kennedy*, 771 F.2d 1244, 1253 (9th Cir. 1985); *Johnson v. U.S. Postal Service*, 756 F.2d 1461, 1466 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985); *Dutrisac v. Caterpillar Tractor Co.*, 749 F.2d 1270, 1273 (9th Cir. 1983); *Vaca*, 386 U.S. at 182, 87 S.Ct. at 912.).

Therefore, the standard of care owed by unions toward their members is encapsulated in the duty of fair representation. *United Steelworkers of America v. Rawson*, 495 U.S. 362, 374, 110 S.Ct. 1904, 109 L.Ed. 2d 362 (1990) (observing that the **only** implied duty in a union's relations with its members was the duty of fair representation and that, "[i]f an employee claims that a union owes him a more far-reaching duty, he must be able to point to language in the collective-bargaining agreement specifically indicating an intent to create obligations enforceable against the union by the individual employees"); *Johnson v.* 

Graphic Communications, 930 F2d 1178 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991) (malpractice allegations that union officers gave inaccurate legal advice where those officers "held themselves out to be experts in representation, collective bargaining . ." treated as DFR); Bautista v. Pan Am World Airlines, 828 F2d 546, 549 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1987) (allegation that union provided inaccurate legal information to strikers after expiration of contract at 837 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1984) (allegation that union's misrepresentation that striking employees' jobs were secure was treated as a DFR).

Other public sector collective bargaining statutes have been similarly interpreted to limit a union's scope of liability to the scope of its duty of fair representation. See e.g., Weiner v. Beatty, 121 Nev. 243, 249-50, 116 P.3d 829, 832 (2005) (the duty of fair representation under Nevada's public sector collective bargaining act "governs the relationship between union members and union representatives" and therefore the plaintiff's legal malpractice "claim directly implicates the union's duty of fair representation"); Brown v. Maine State Employees Ass'n, 690 A.2d 956, 960 (1997) ("Brown's labeling of his claim as one for attorney malpractice does not alter" its character as a DFR claim); Best v. Rome, 858 F. Supp. 271, 275 (D. Mass. 1994) aff'd, 47 F.3d 1156 (1st Cir. 1995); Hussey v. Operating Engineers Local Union No. 3, 35 Cal. App. 4th 1213, 1219-20, 42 Cal. Rptr. 2d 389, 392-93 (1995) (claim denominated as

negligence action was DFR claim, subject to DFR standards because "union does not owe a duty of due care to its members"). *Cf.*, *Weiner v. Beatty*, 121 Nev. 243, 249-50, 116 P.3d 829, 833 (2005) (union agents should not be held to a negligence standard of care when the union for whom they work is liable only if its representation is 'arbitrary, discriminatory, or in bad faith'"); *Lucien v. Conlee*, No. 081066, 2009 WL 1082367, at \*2-3 (Mass. Super. Mar. 27, 2009) (same); *Callahan v. New Mexico Fed'n of Teachers-TVI*, 2006-NMSC-010, 139 N.M. 201, 206-07, 131 P.3d 51, 56-57 (same).

The Court of Appeals' holding that Petitioners' unauthorized practice of law and Consumer Protection Act claims (which were premised entirely on the unauthorized practice of law claim) were subsumed in the duty of fair representation claims is thus entirely consistent with Washington law and the holdings of federal and state sister courts interpreting their collective bargaining statutes.

### C. There Is No Error Or Grounds For Review In The Holding That Petitioners' Claims Were Time Barred.

Petitioners' DFR claims, as well as their unauthorized and negligent practice of law and CPA claims (which are subsumed in their DFR claims), are time barred by the six-month statute of limitations applicable to such actions. *Imperato v. Wenatchee Valley Coll.*, 160 Wn.

App. 353, 364, 247 P.3d 816, 821 (2011). Here, Division One of the Court of Appeals found persuasive the *Imperato* decision of Division Three, applying the six-month limitation period in RCW 41.56.160. <sup>6</sup> *Killian*, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*6 ("We adhere to *Imperato*."). Thus, rather than there being grounds for review under RAP 13(b)(2) (conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals) as argued by Petitioners, the consistency of the decision below with the *Imperato* decision counsels against review.

Divisor One held, as did the *Imperato* court, that the six-month statute of limitations applies to DFR claims filed directly in superior court, as well as those filed with PERC. It agreed that

application of the six month statute of limitation period to DFR claims would serve several important policies: (1) It would prevent piecemeal litigation; (2) Applying a different statute of limitations to DFR claims filed in superior court would frustrate the role of PERC in promptly resolving labor disputes; and (3) It would provide consistency, because federal law also establishes a six month statute of limitations. ... In so holding, the *Imperato* court rejected the argument that it should apply the three year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.080, the six year statute of limitations for breach of a written agreement in RCW 4.16.040,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RCW 41.56.160(1) sets forth a six-month statute of limitations for unfair labor practice claims filed with PERC:

The commission is empowered and directed to prevent any unfair labor practice and to issue appropriate remedial orders: PROVIDED, That a complaint shall not be processed for any unfair labor practice occurring more than six months before the filing of the complaint with the commission. This power shall not be affected or impaired by any means of adjustment, mediation or conciliation in labor disputes that have been or may hereafter be established by law.

or the two year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.130. Id. at 362, 364, 247 P.3d 816.

Killian, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*6 (citing *Imperato*, 160 Wn. App. at 362, 364).

Petitioners' claims are time barred, as their Complaints were not filed until May 29, 2014, CP 1-12, 974-985. Whether applying NLRA jurisprudence by analogy or under Washington's common law discovery rule, the six-month limitation period ran, at the latest, "over a month after the expiration of the six month statute of limitations period." *Killian*, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*8. *See also*, *Harris v. Alumax Mill Prod., Inc.*, 897 F.2d 400, 403-404 (9th Cir. 1990) (employee knew or should have known of alleged breach no later than the date on which a union representative informed the employee it would not pursue a grievance on his behalf). *Funkhouser v. Wilson*, 89 Wash.App. 644, 666–67, 950 P.2d 501 (1998) (a cause of action accrues when a claimant knows or, in the exercise of due diligence, should have known all the essential elements of the cause of action), *affirmed by C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wash.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As discussed above, Washington courts analyzing cases under the PECBA may look to federal decisions interpreting the NLRA to the extent those laws are "substantially similar." The PECBA is "substantially similar" to the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 151–169 (1976), State ex rel. Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. Board of Trustees, 93 Wn.2d 60, 67–68, 605 P.2d 1252 (1980), and both acts provide a six-month limitation period for claims based upon "any unfair labor practice." 29 U.S.C. § 160(b); RCW 41.56.160(1).

The Court of Appeals carefully reviewed each communication from Local 609 to the Petitioners and concluded that, despite Petitioners' arguments to the contrary, they received oral notice that the Union was not proceeding to arbitration at least by October 12, 2013, and that oral notice was confirmed in writing by at least October 18, 2013, which means that the limitation period ran, at the latest, in mid-April 2013. *Killian v. Int'l Union of Operating Engineers Local 609–A*, No. 74024-5-I, 2016 WL 4442562, at \*7-8.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should deny the petition for review.